THE NORTHCOTT SOCIETY

CONSTITUTION

# **Table of Contents**

1.	Inter	pretation	1	
	1.1	Replaceable rules	1	
	1.2	Definitions	1	
	1.3	Construction	2	
	1.4	Headings	2	
2.	Establishment			
	2.1	Name	2	
	2.2	Legal capacity	2	
	2.3	Objects	3	
	2.4	Income and property	3	
	2.5	Liability	3	
	2.6	Contribution upon winding up	3	
	2.7	Transfer of property	3	
	2.8	Accounts	4	
3.	Mem	nbers	4	
	3.1	Admission of Members	4	
	3.2	Classes of Members	4	
	3.3	Directors	5	
4.	Regi	ister of Members	5	
5.	Cessation of Membership			
	5.1	Lapse	5	
	5.2	Cease Membership	5	
	5.3	Moneys due and payable	5	
	5.4	Insolvency	5	
	5.5	Rights of Member following cessation of Membership	5	
6.	Mem	nbers' Liabilities	6	
7.	Disc	iplining of Members	6	
8.	Rem	ioval of Members	6	
9.	Tran	sfer Of Membership	6	
10.	General Meetings			
	10.1	Annual general meeting	7	
	10.2	Holding of general meetings	7	
	10.3	Convening of general meetings	7	
	10.4	Notice of meetings	7	
	10.5	Omission to give notice	7	
	10.6	Special business	7	
11.		ceedings at Meetings	8	
	11.1	Quorum	8	

	11.2	Lack of quorum	8
	11.3	Chairperson	8
	11.4	Adjournment	8
	11.5	Notice of adjourned meeting	8
	11.6	Decisions at general meetings	8
	11.7	Minutes as evidence of result	9
	11.8	Taking of poll	9
12.	Votes	9	
	12.1	Entitlement to vote	9
	12.2	Casting vote	9
13.	Proxi	9	
	13.1	Appointment of proxy	9
	13.2	Instrument of proxy	9
	13.3	Receipt of proxy	10
	13.4	Form of proxy	10
	13.5	Power to demand poll	10
	13.6	Votes of proxies	10
	13.7	Identification of proxy	11
	13.8	Power of attorney	11
	13.9	Appointment of a representative of a corporation	11
14.	Direc	11	
	14.1	Number	11
	14.2	Qualification as a Director	11
	14.3	Appointment by Directors	12
	14.4	Duration of appointment by Directors	12
	14.5	No remuneration	12
	14.6	Directors vacancies	12
	14.7	Appointment by general meeting	12
	14.8	Term of appointment	12
	14.9	Nominations	13
	14.10	Removal of Directors	13
15.	Powe	ers and Duties of Directors	13
16.	Mana	iging Directors	13
	16.1	Appointment and removal	13
	16.2	Status	14
17.	Disqu	ualification of Directors	14
18.	Direc	tors' Contracts	14
	18.1	Directors' interests	14
	18.2	Declaration of interest	15
	18.3	Votes by interested Directors	15
19.	Direc	tors' conflicts of Interest	16
20.	Proce	eedings of Directors	16
	20.1	Board Meetings	16

	20.2	Calling of meetings	16
	20.3	Notice of meetings	16
	20.4	Chairperson of meetings	16
	20.5	Decision of questions	16
	20.6	Delegation to Committees	16
	20.7	Procedure of Committees	17
	20.8	Validation of irregular acts	17
	20.9	Written resolutions	17
21.	Meet	tings of Directors by Technology	17
22.	Borr	owing Powers	18
23.	No A	Iternate Directors	18
24.	Minu	Ites	18
25.	Loca	18	
	25.1	Management	18
	25.2	Agencies, branch offices, etc.	18
26.	Secr	etary	18
27.	Acco	19	
	27.1	Accounting and other records	19
	27.2	Time for accounts	19
	27.3	Auditors	19
28.	Notio	19	
	28.1	Modes of giving notice	19
	28.2	Documents by post	19
	28.3	Documents by fax or electronic mail	20
	28.4	Persons entitled to notice of general meeting	20
	28.5	Signature to notice	20
29.	Seal	s and their Use	20
30.	Officers' Indemnity and Insurance		
	30.1	Indemnity	20
	30.2	Legal costs	21
	30.3	Past officer and auditor	21
	30.4	Past officer and auditor: legal costs	21
	30.5 30.6	Deed of indemnity and access to papers Definitions	21 21
	30.6 30.7	Amendment	21
	30.8	Insurance	22
31.		ce to the ACNC and Australian Taxation Office	

# **CORPORATIONS ACT**

# A COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE AND NOT HAVING A SHARE CAPITAL CONSTITUTION THE NORTHCOTT SOCIETY

# 1. Interpretation

# 1.1 Replaceable rules

The replaceable rules contained in the Corporations Act (and any former corporations law) do not apply to the Company.

# 1.2 Definitions

In this Constitution unless the context otherwise requires:

ACNC means the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission.

ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission;

Board means the board of Directors;

Board Meeting means a duly convened meeting of the Directors;

*Business Day* means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in New South Wales;

Committee means a committee of Directors formed pursuant to clause 20.6;

Company means The Northcott Society (ACN 000 022 971);

**Corporations Act** means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and any modification, amendment or re-enactment of it, and any regulations made pursuant thereto;

Director means a director of the Company;

*Managing Director* means any person appointed for the time being to perform the duties of Managing Director of the Company;

Members means persons admitted as members of the Company pursuant to clause 3;

*Members Present* means, in connection with a meeting, a member present at the venue or venues for the meeting, in person or by proxy, by attorney or, where the member is a body corporate, by representative;

*Membership Payment* means the amount (if any) set by the Directors on an annual or other basis which is a condition of Membership as set out in clause 3.1;

Office means the registered office for the time being of the Company;

Register means the register of Members to be kept pursuant to the Corporations Act; and

**Secretary** includes the assistant or acting secretary of the Company and any substitute for the time being for the secretary.

# 1.3 Construction

In this Constitution unless the context otherwise requires:

- words (including defined expressions) importing the singular include the plural and vice versa;
- (b) words (including defined expressions) importing any gender include the other genders;
- (c) words (including defined expressions) importing persons shall include corporations and bodies politic;
- (d) a reference to a statute, ordinance, code or other law includes regulations and other statutory instruments under it and consolidations, amendments, re-enactments or replacements of any of them (whether of the same or any other legislative authority having jurisdiction);
- (e) references to writing include any mode of representing or reproducing words in tangible and permanently visible form, and includes facsimile, electronic means (including email) or any other means approved by the Board;
- (f) a reference to a month and cognate terms means a period commencing on any day of a calendar month and ending on the corresponding day in the next succeeding calendar month but if a corresponding day does not occur in the next succeeding calendar month the period shall end on the last day of the next succeeding calendar month;
- (g) a word or phrase given a meaning in the Corporations Act has the same meaning in this Constitution, unless otherwise defined; and
- (h) mentioning anything after *includes*, *including*, *for example*, or similar expressions, does not limit what else might be included.

# 1.4 Headings

Headings do not affect the interpretation of this Constitution.

# 2. Establishment

#### 2.1 Name

The name of the company is The Northcott Society.

# 2.2 Legal capacity

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Company has the legal capacity of a natural person including, without limitation, the capacity to exercise the powers set out in section 124 of the Corporations Act. It is the intention that this Constitution of the Company will not restrict or prohibit the exercise by the Company of any of the powers referred to in this clause 2.2.

# 2.3 Objects

The objects for which the Company is established are:

- (a) to build an inclusive society where people can live the life they choose;
- (b) to work with, and on behalf of, people with disabilities and their families to achieve these goals; and
- (c) to do all other lawful things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of these objects or any of them or which may be calculated to advance directly or indirectly the interests of the Company.

# 2.4 Income and property

The income and property of the Company must be applied solely towards the promotion of the objects of the Company as set out in this Constitution and no portion of it is to be paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of profit to Members. This does not prevent the payment in good faith:

- (a) of remuneration to any officers or servants of the Company in return for any services rendered to the Company;
- (b) for goods supplied in the ordinary and usual course of business;
- (c) of interest at a reasonable and proper rate on money borrowed from any Member; or
- (d) of reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by any Member,

provided that any such payment is on arms length commercial terms (or on terms no less favourable to the Company than arm's length terms).

# 2.5 Liability

The liability of the Members is limited.

# 2.6 Contribution upon winding up

Every Member undertakes to contribute an amount not exceeding one dollar (\$1) to the assets of the Company in the event of it being wound up while they are a Member or within one year afterwards for:

- payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company contracted before the time when they ceased to be a Member;
- (b) the costs charges and expenses of winding up; and
- (c) for an adjustment of the rights of contributories among themselves.

# 2.7 Transfer of property

If, upon the winding up or dissolution of the Company or, if earlier, the revocation of its endorsement as a deductible gift recipient pursuant to subdivision 30-BA of Part 2-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, and after satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property remains, this property must not be paid to or distributed among the members but must be given or transferred as follows to one or more institutions which is:

- in the case of all assets of the Company other than the assets referred to in clause 2.7(b), an institution that has objects substantially similar to the objects of the Company; and
- (b) in the case of each "community housing asset" (as defined in the Community Housing Providers National Law) located in a participating jurisdiction under the Community Housing Providers National Law:
  - (i) a "registered community housing provider" (as defined in the Community Housing Providers National Law); or
  - (ii) a "Housing Agency" (as defined in the Community Housing Providers National Law) in the jurisdiction in which the assets are located,

provided it is an institution to which gifts can be deducted under Division 30 of Part 2-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and which prohibits the distribution of its income and property among its members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on the Company pursuant to clause 2.4.

# 2.8 Accounts

True accounts must be kept of:

- (a) all money received and expended by the Company;
- (b) the matter in respect of which those receipts or expenditures takes place; and
- (c) the property credits and liabilities of the Company.

Those accounts are to be available for inspection by the Members subject to any reasonable restrictions as to time and manner of inspection that may be imposed in accordance with the regulations of the Company for the time being.

# 3. Members

# 3.1 Admission of Members

The Company will admit as a Member any person who agrees to become a Member by submitting a written application for membership to the Company (in such form as is determined by the Board from time to time) and:

- (a) is approved as a Member by the Directors as being a person interested in the promotion of the objects of the Company; and
- (b) pays the Membership Payment (if any), as determined by the Directors from time to time.

# 3.2 Classes of Members

The Directors may at any time determine different classes of Membership, with those classes having different rights and obligations attaching thereto as determined by the Directors.

# 3.3 Directors

- (a) Each director will automatically be admitted as a Member for the term of their appointment and will be deemed to have agreed to become a Member of the Company by submitting his or her signed consent to act as a director of the Company.
- (b) A director will cease to be a Member of the Company at the time he or she ceases to be a director of the Company, unless he or she has submitted a written request to the Company to continue as a Member and this is approved by the directors.

# 4. Register of Members

The Secretary shall keep at the Office the Register and shall enter in it the full names and addresses of Members, the date upon which Members became Members and the date upon which any Member ceased to be a Member. The Register must not be used for any other purpose and is to be open for inspection by Members at the determination of the Directors (or as otherwise permitted by the Corporations Act).

# 5. Cessation of Membership

# 5.1 Lapse

A Member ceases to be a Member on the expiration of the period of Membership for the class of Member as determined by the Directors in accordance with clause 3.2.

# 5.2 Cease Membership

A Member may cease to be a Member by notice in writing to the Secretary and upon receipt of such notice the Member ceases to be a Member.

# 5.3 Moneys due and payable

Any moneys due and payable under this Constitution by a Member to the Company at the time the Member ceases to be a Member continue to be due and payable notwithstanding that the person is no longer a Member.

# 5.4 Insolvency

A Member who becomes insolvent or becomes an insolvent under administration within the meaning of the Corporations Act immediately ceases to be a Member.

# 5.5 Rights of Member following cessation of Membership

Any person who ceases to be a Member shall forfeit all rights and privileges of Membership and shall have no claim upon the Company except rights or claims as a creditor (if any).

# 6. Members' Liabilities

The liability of a Member to contribute towards the payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company or the costs, charges and expenses of the winding up of the Company is limited to the amount set out in clause 2.6.

# 7. Disciplining of Members

If any Member:

- (a) wilfully refuses, fails or neglects to comply with the provisions of this Constitution and such refusal, failure or neglect continues thirty (30) days after notice has been given by the Directors to the Member;
- (b) is guilty of any conduct which in the opinion of the Directors is prejudicial to the interests of the Company and the conduct cannot be or is not remedied after thirty (30) days notice has been given by the Director to the Member,

the Directors may, subject to approval of the Members at the next general meeting of the Members, expel the Member from the Company. The notice of meeting convening the general meeting shall state that the meeting is to consider the expulsion of the particular Member and the Member must be given the opportunity at the general meeting to put forward his or her case. Following approval of a Member's expulsion at a general meeting the Secretary must remove that Member's name from the Register.

# 8. Removal of Members

If, in the reasonable opinion of the Directors, any Member of more than 10 years standing, no longer actively participates in the affairs of the Company or makes reasonable contributions in cash or in kind to the Company or takes any action which furthers the objects of the Company, then in any such case the Directors may remove that Member from the Register. That Member must be given not less than sixty (60) days notice of the Board meeting at which the proposed removal will be considered and an opportunity to make written submissions to the Directors as to why he or she should not be removed. Following approval of a Member's removal at a Board meeting the Secretary must remove that person's name from the Register (at which time that person ceases to be a Member of the Company) and notify that person that they have ceased to be a Member of the Company.

# 9. Transfer Of Membership

Subject to clauses 2.6 and 5.3, a right, privilege or obligation which a person has by reason of being a Member:

- (a) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and
- (b) terminates on cessation of the person's Membership.

# 10. General Meetings

# 10.1 Annual general meeting

An annual general meeting of the Company must be held in accordance with the Corporations Act.

#### 10.2 Holding of general meetings

General meetings are to be held at the times and places prescribed by the Company in general meeting or if no time or place is prescribed as are determined by the Directors.

#### 10.3 Convening of general meetings

Any three Directors may whenever they think fit, and the Directors must upon a requisition made by Members in accordance with section 249D of the Corporations Act, convene a general meeting of the Company.

#### 10.4 Notice of meetings

At least 21 clear days' notice of a general meeting must be given to Members in accordance with this Constitution. The notice must specify the place, day and hour of meeting and in the case of special business the general nature of that business and in the case of an election of Directors the names of the candidates for election, as well as any other matters required under the Corporations Act.

#### 10.5 Omission to give notice

The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by any person entitled to receive notice does not invalidate the proceedings at the meeting.

#### 10.6 Special business

All business will be special that is transacted at:

- (a) a general meeting not being an annual general meeting; or
- (b) an annual general meeting with the exception of:
  - (i) the confirmation of the minutes of the preceding meeting;
  - (ii) the receipt and consideration of the balance sheet, the profit and loss statement and the reports of the Board and the auditors;
  - (iii) the election of Directors (other than the election of a Director who is nominated in accordance with clause 14.9); and
  - (iv) the transaction of any business which under the Corporations Act or this Constitution is required to be transacted.

# 11. Proceedings at Meetings

# 11.1 Quorum

Five Members Present and entitled to vote is a quorum for all general meetings. No business is to be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present at the time the meeting proceeds to business.

# 11.2 Lack of quorum

If within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting will stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place or to such other day time and place as the Directors determine. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting 3 Members Present and entitled to vote will be a quorum and if such reduced quorum is not then present the meeting will be dissolved.

# 11.3 Chairperson

The chairperson of Directors or in their absence the deputy chairperson may preside as chairperson at every general meeting. If there is no chairperson or deputy chairperson or if neither is present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting or if they are both unwilling to act as chairperson of the meeting the Directors must choose another Director as chairperson. If no Director is so chosen or if all the Directors present decline to take the chair the Members Present must choose one of their own number to be chairperson.

# 11.4 Adjournment

The chairperson of a general meeting may (and must if directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting from time to time and place to place but no business is to be transacted at an adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.

# 11.5 Notice of adjourned meeting

It is not necessary to give notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting, unless the meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more in which case notice of the adjourned meeting is to be given as in the case of an original meeting.

# 11.6 Decisions at general meetings

At a general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting is to be decided by a show of hands of the Members Present and entitled to vote unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded by the chairperson or (other than on the election of the chairperson of a meeting or the adjournment of a meeting) by one or more Members Present in accordance with the Corporations Act.

# 11.7 Minutes as evidence of result

Unless a poll is duly demanded, a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has on a show of hands been carried or carried unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost or not carried by a particular majority and an entry to that effect in the book containing the minutes of the proceedings of the Company signed by the chairperson will be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.

# 11.8 Taking of poll

If a poll is duly demanded it must be taken in the manner and at the time and place as the chairperson of the meeting directs. The result of the poll will be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded provided that a poll on the election of a chairperson of a meeting or on any question of adjournment must be taken at the meeting and without adjournment. The demand for a poll will not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question on which a poll has been demanded. The demand for a poll may be withdrawn. In the case of a dispute as to the admission or rejection of a vote on a show of hands or on a poll the chairperson shall determine the dispute and the determination made in good faith will be final and conclusive.

# 12. Votes of Members

# 12.1 Entitlement to vote

Every Member Present has one vote, whether on a show of hands or on a poll.

# 12.2 Casting vote

In the case of an equality of votes whether on a show of hands or on a poll the chairperson of the meeting at which the show of hands is taken or at which the poll is demanded is entitled to a casting vote in addition to the vote or votes to which he or she may be entitled as a Member.

# 13. Proxies

# 13.1 Appointment of proxy

A Member who is entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company may appoint a person as a proxy to attend and vote for the Member in accordance with the Corporations Act but not otherwise. A proxy appointed in accordance with the Corporations Act to attend and vote may exercise the rights of the Member on the basis and subject to the restrictions provided in the Corporations Act but not otherwise.

# 13.2 Instrument of proxy

The instrument appointing a proxy must be signed by the appointor (or their attorney duly authorised in writing) or otherwise authenticated in a manner prescribed by the

Corporations Act. An instrument of appointment of proxy is valid if it is in accordance with the Corporations Act or in any form (including any electronic form) that the Board may prescribe or accept.

# 13.3 Receipt of proxy

The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or executed or a certified copy of that power or authority (or a copy certified in another manner acceptable to the Directors) must be received by the Company not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting or taking of the poll at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote and in default the instrument of proxy will not be treated as valid.

# 13.4 Form of proxy

Every instrument of proxy whether for a specified meeting or otherwise must as nearly as circumstances will admit be addressed to the Company in the following form (or in such other form as the Directors from time to time prescribe or in a particular case accept):

# THE NORTHCOTT SOCIETY

I/We

of [\*]

being a member/members of the Company and entitled to attend and vote appoint [\*]

of [\*]

(or, if no person is named, the Chair of the meeting) as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the general meeting of the Company to be held on the [\*] day of [\*] 20[\*] and at any adjournment thereof.

This form is to be used \*in favour of/against [each resolution][the following resolutions as indicated with an 'x' below: [\*]].

\*Strike out whichever is not desired.

Unless otherwise instructed the proxy may vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit in respect of each resolution.

As witness my/our hand/s this [\*] day of [\*] 20[\*]

Signed by [\*]

in the presence of: [\*]

# 13.5 Power to demand poll

The instrument appointing a proxy will be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll.

# 13.6 Votes of proxies

A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy is valid notwithstanding the previous death or unsoundness of mind of the appointor or revocation of the instrument or of the authority under which the instrument was executed provided that no intimation in writing of the death, unsoundness of mind or revocation has been received by the Company before the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the instrument is used. A proxy is not revoked by the appointor attending and taking part in any meeting but if the appointor votes on a resolution either on a show of hands or on a poll the person acting as proxy for that appointor has no vote as proxy on that resolution.

# 13.7 Identification of proxy

The chairperson of a meeting may require a person acting as a proxy to establish to the satisfaction of the chairperson that they are the person nominated as proxy in the form of proxy lodged under this Constitution and failing compliance that person may be excluded from voting either upon a show of hands or upon a poll.

# 13.8 Power of attorney

If a Member executes or proposes to execute an instrument or to act by or through an attorney they must:

- (a) produce to the Company for noting the instrument appointing the attorney;
- (b) pay the prescribed fee (if any) for that noting; and
- (c) (if required) file with the Company a certified copy of that instrument which is to be retained by the Company.

The Directors may on the first production of that instrument of attorney and from time to time subsequently require any evidence as they think fit that the instrument of attorney is effective and current.

# 13.9 Appointment of a representative of a corporation

Any Member being a corporation may appoint in writing such person as it thinks fit to represent and act for it in accordance with section 250D of the Corporations Act to attend and vote at meetings of the Company, to demand or join in demanding a poll or to vote at such poll. Any appointment of a representative should specify a period of currency and may be revoked at any time during that currency by notice in writing to the Company by the Member.

# 14. Directors

# 14.1 Number

The number of Directors must be not less than 5 and not more than 12.

# 14.2 Qualification as a Director

- (a) Subject to clause 14.2(b), an employee of the Company (other than the Managing Director) may not be appointed as a Director of the Company.
- (b) The Directors may (by way of an unanimous resolution of the Directors present and voting at a Board Meeting) authorise the employment by the Company of any

Director for a period of up to six months and fix his or her remuneration and other terms of appointment as are approved by the Board. On or before the expiry of the relevant authorised term of employment, that person must either:

- (i) cease to be a Director; or
- (ii) cease to be an employee of the Company,

unless the Directors approve a further term in accordance with this clause 14.2(b).

#### 14.3 Appointment by Directors

The Directors may at any time appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to their number.

#### 14.4 Duration of appointment by Directors

Any Director appointed pursuant to clause 14.3 holds office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and is eligible for re-election.

#### 14.5 No remuneration

- (a) No Director is entitled to be paid a fee for his or her service as a Director.
- (b) The Directors will be entitled to be paid or reimbursed for all out of pocket expenses properly incurred by them in the performance of their duties as Directors where the amount payable has been approved by the Board.
- (c) Subject to clause 14.2, a Director may be engaged by the Company in any other capacity (other than auditor) and may be appointed on such terms as to remuneration, tenure of office and otherwise as has been approved by the Board.

#### 14.6 Directors vacancies

The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their numbers but should the number of Directors fall below the minimum number fixed in accordance with this Constitution the Directors may act for the purpose of increasing the number of Directors to the minimum or of summoning a general meeting of the Company or in emergencies but for no other purpose.

# 14.7 Appointment by general meeting

The Company may by resolution passed in general meeting appoint any person as a Director, whether to reappoint an existing Director retiring from office, to appoint a Director in the place of a retiring Director, to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the number of Directors.

#### 14.8 Term of appointment

Subject to clause 14.10 and clause 17, each Director holds office for 3 years after which time each Director's position becomes vacant.

# 14.9 Nominations

No person is, unless recommended by the Directors for election, eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless that person or a Member intending to nominate that person has at least thirty (30) days before the meeting left at the Office a notice signed by the nominee consenting to the nomination and appointment and signifying his or her candidature for the office or the intention of such Member to nominate that person. Notice of each candidature must be served by the Company on each Member at least seven (7) days before the meeting at which an election is to take place.

# 14.10 Removal of Directors

The Company may by resolution in general meeting remove a Director from office. However, no resolution for the removal of a Director from office is to be put to a general meeting unless notice signed by a Member duly qualified to vote at that meeting and signifying the intention of that Member to propose that resolution is received by the Company not less than 2 months before the date appointed for holding the meeting.

# 15. Powers and Duties of Directors

- (a) The management of the business and affairs of the Company is to be vested in the Directors who in addition to the powers and authorities conferred by this Constitution or otherwise may exercise all powers and do all acts and things as can be exercised or done by the Company and are not required to be exercised or done by the Company in general meeting.
- (b) The powers of the Directors are subject to the Corporations Act, this Constitution, and to any regulations (not being inconsistent with the this Constitution) from time to time made by the Company in general meeting.
- (c) No regulation made by the Company in general meeting will invalidate any prior act of the Directors which would have been valid if that regulation had not been made.

# 16. Managing Directors

# 16.1 Appointment and removal

- (a) The Directors may from time to time:
  - (i) appoint the chief executive officer employed by the Company from time to time (if any) to the office of Managing Director of the Company (who may bear that title or any other title determined by the Board and shall be appointed as a Director of the Company while they bear that office) and (subject to the provisions of any contract between that person and the Company) define, limit and restrict his or her powers and duties and fix his or her remuneration and term of appointment as Managing Director (subject to compliance with the Corporations Act); and

- (ii) remove any Managing Director so appointed from that office and appoint another chief executive officer to that office as Managing Director.
- (b) A Director who is appointed other than pursuant to clause 16.1(a)(i) may not be appointed to the position of Managing Director.

# 16.2 Status

A Managing Director, while he or she holds that office:

- (a) is subject to any contract between him or her and the Company and to this Constitution (including the same provisions as to resignation, disqualification and removal as apply to the other Directors);
- (b) immediately ceases to be a Managing Director if he or she ceases to hold the office of Director for any reason and immediately ceases to be a Director if he or she ceases to hold the office of Managing Director for any reason; and
- (c) shall be subject to the control of the Board.

# 17. Disqualification of Directors

In addition to the other circumstances where the office of a Director becomes vacant under the Corporations Act or this Constitution, the office of a Director will become vacant if:

- (a) the Director becomes an insolvent under administration or makes any composition or arrangement with his or her creditors or any class of them;
- (b) the Director becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health;
- (c) the Director resigns from office by notice in writing to the Company;
- (d) the period for which the Director is appointed expires;
- the Director, without the permission of the other Directors, is absent from the meetings of the Directors for more than half of the meetings of the Directors in any six (6) month period;
- (f) the Director is directly or indirectly interested in any contract or proposed contract with the Company and fails to declare the nature of that interest as required by the Corporations Act.

# **18.** Directors' Contracts

# 18.1 Directors' interests

Subject to the Corporations Act and clause 14.2:

- (a) no Director or proposed Director is disqualified by that office from:
  - (i) entering into a contract, agreement or arrangement with the Company;
  - (ii) becoming or remaining a Director of any company in which the Company is in any way interested or which is in any way interested in the Company;

- (b) no contract, agreement or arrangement in which a Director is in any way interested, entered into by or on behalf of the Company can be avoided; and
- (c) no Director who:
  - (i) enters into a contract, agreement or arrangement in which the Director has an interest; or
  - (ii) is a director of the other company with which the Company has entered into the contract, agreement or arrangement,

is liable to account to the Company for any profits or remuneration realised by that Director as a result of their being interested or being a director of the other company.

# 18.2 Declaration of interest

- (a) The nature of a Director's interest in any contract agreement or arrangement must be declared by that Director at a meeting of the Directors in accordance with the Corporations Act as soon as practicable after the relevant facts have come to his or her knowledge.
- (b) A general notice that a Director is a member of any specified firm, partnership, entity or corporation and is to be regarded as interested in all transactions with that firm or corporation is a sufficient declaration under this clause as regards the Director and the transactions. After giving the general notice it is not necessary for the Director to give any special notice relating to any particular transaction with that firm or corporation. It is the duty of the Secretary to record in the minutes any declaration made or any general notice given by a Director in pursuance of this clause.

# 18.3 Votes by interested Directors

Subject to the Corporations Act, a Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that is being considered at a meeting of Directors:

- (a) must not vote on the matter (or in relation to a proposed resolution under paragraph (b) of this clause in relation to the matter, whether in relation to that or a different Director): and
- (b) must not be present while the matter (or a proposed resolution of that kind) is being considered at the meeting,

unless:

- (c) the matter applies to an interest that the Director has as a Member in common with the other Members;
- (d) the Directors have passed a resolution that specifies the Director, the interest and the matter, and states that the Directors voting for the resolution are satisfied that the interest should not disqualify the Director from considering or voting on the matter; or
- (e) as is otherwise permitted in accordance with the Corporations Act.

# 19. Directors' conflicts of Interest

A Director who holds an office or possesses a property whereby duties or interests might be created whether directly or indirectly in conflict with their duties or interests as Director must declare at a meeting of the Directors the fact and the nature, character and extent of the conflict.

# 20. Proceedings of Directors

# 20.1 Board Meetings

The Directors may meet together for the dispatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings and proceedings as they think fit and may from time to time determine the quorum necessary for the transaction of business. Until otherwise determined by the Directors, 3 Directors constitute a quorum.

# 20.2 Calling of meetings

A Director may at any time and the Secretary must upon the request of a Director convene a meeting of Directors.

# 20.3 Notice of meetings

Not less than 5 Business Days notice of a Board meeting is to be given to all Directors except to a Director whom the Secretary when giving notice to other Directors reasonably believes to be outside Australia.

# 20.4 Chairperson of meetings

The Directors may elect a chairperson and a deputy-chairperson of their meetings (provided that the Managing Director is not eligible to vote on any such decision) and determine the period for which each is to hold office. If no chairperson or deputy-chairperson is elected or if at any meeting neither the chairperson nor the deputy-chairperson is present at the time appointed for holding that meeting the Directors present must elect one of their number to be chairperson of that meeting.

# 20.5 Decision of questions

Subject to clause 20.9, questions arising at any meeting of Directors are to be decided by a majority of votes. Each Director has one vote and a determination by a majority of the Directors will for all purposes be deemed a determination of the Directors. In case of an equality of votes at a meeting at which a quorum is present the chairperson has a second or casting vote.

# 20.6 Delegation to Committees

The Directors may delegate any of their powers to Committees consisting of Directors or other persons as the Directors think fit. Any Committee formed must in exercise of the powers delegated comply with the regulations that may be imposed on it by the Directors.

# 20.7 Procedure of Committees

The meetings and proceedings of Committees consisting of more than 1 person are to be governed by the provisions of this Constitution regulating the meetings and proceedings of the Directors so far as they are applicable and are not superseded by any regulations made by the Directors under this Constitution.

# 20.8 Validation of irregular acts

All acts done by any meeting of the Directors or by a Committee or by any person acting as a Director will, even if it is later discovered that there was some defect in the appointment or continuance in office of a Director or person acting as aforesaid or that they or any of them were disqualified or had vacated office or were not entitled to vote, be as valid as if every person had been duly appointed or had duly continued in office and was qualified and had continued to be a Director and had been entitled to vote.

# 20.9 Written resolutions

A resolution in writing signed by all the Directors for the time being in Australia (not being less than a quorum) is as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of Directors duly called and constituted. That resolution may consist of several copies of a document each signed by one or more Directors.

# 21. Meetings of Directors by Technology

- (a) For the purposes of the Corporations Act, each Director, by consenting to be a Director (or by reason of the adoption of this Constitution or the amendment of this clause 21), consents to the use of each of the following technologies for holding a Board meeting:
  - (i) video;
  - (ii) telephone;
  - (iii) any other technology which permits each Director to communicate with every other Director; or
  - (iv) any combination of these technologies.

A Director may withdraw the consent given under this clause 21 in accordance with the Corporations Act.

- (b) Where the Directors are not all in attendance at one place and are holding a meeting using technology and each Director can communicate with the other Directors:
  - the participating Directors are, for the purpose of every provision of this Constitution concerning meetings of the Board, taken to be assembled together at a meeting and to be present at that meeting; and
  - (ii) all proceedings of the Board conducted in that manner are as valid and effective as if conducted at a meeting at which all of the participating Directors were physically present in the one location.

# 22. Borrowing Powers

The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge all or part of its undertaking assets and uncalled capital and to issue debentures, debenture stock and other securities outright or as security for any debt contract, guarantee, engagement, obligation or liability of the Company or of any third party and on the terms and conditions as the Directors think fit.

# 23. No Alternate Directors

No Director may appoint an alternate Director.

# 24. Minutes

The Directors shall cause minutes to be kept in accordance with the Corporations Act:

- (a) of the names of the Directors present at each meeting of the Directors and of any Committee; and
- (b) of all resolutions and proceedings of general meetings and of meetings of Directors and of Committees.

The minutes are to be signed by the chairperson of the meeting at which the proceedings were held or by the chairperson of the next succeeding meeting.

# 25. Local Management

# 25.1 Management

The Directors may from time to time provide for the management of the affairs of the Company in any part of Australia or elsewhere in such manner as they think fit and the following clauses are without prejudice to the general powers conferred by this clause.

# 25.2 Agencies, branch offices, etc.

The Directors may establish agencies, branch offices and local boards as they think fit and may do all acts, matters and things as may be necessary for that purpose. The Directors may make regulations for the management of the agency branch office or local board as they from time to time think proper. The Directors may from time to time discontinue any agency, branch office or local board or the appointment of any person holding office in the agency, branch office or local board.

# 26. Secretary

One or more Secretaries must be appointed by the Directors in accordance with the Corporations Act for the terms, at the remuneration and upon the conditions as the Directors think fit. Any Secretary so appointed may be removed by the Directors.

# 27. Accounts

# 27.1 Accounting and other records

The Directors must cause proper accounting and other records to be kept and distribute copies of balance sheets if required by the Corporations Act. The Directors must from time to time determine whether and to what extent and at what times and places and under what conditions or regulations the accounting and other records of the Company or any of them are to be open to the inspection of Members not being Directors. No Member (not being a Director) has a right of inspecting any account or book or paper of the Company except as conferred by statute or authorised by the Directors or by the Company in general meeting.

# 27.2 Time for accounts

The interval between the close of a financial year of the Company and the issue of the printed Annual Report and audited accounts relating to it must not exceed the period (if any) prescribed by the Corporations Act.

# 27.3 Auditors

An auditor or auditors are to be appointed and may be removed and their remuneration, rights and duties regulated in accordance with the Corporations Act.

# 28. Notices

# 28.1 Modes of giving notice

The Company may give documents to a Member, in the Company's discretion, by:

- (a) serving it on the Member personally;
- (b) sending it by post to the Member or leaving it at the Member's address as shown in the Register or the address nominated by the Member to the Company for the giving of documents;
- (c) sending it to the fax number nominated by the Member to the Company for the giving of documents;
- (d) sending it to the electronic address nominated by the Member or by other electronic means nominated by the Member; or
- (e) if a Member nominates any electronic means by which the Member may be notified that documents are available and may access notices, sending a notification that the document is available for access, in each case by the relevant electronic means.

# 28.2 Documents by post

Any document sent by post:

(a) if sent to an address in Australia, may be sent by ordinary post; and

(b) if sent to an address outside Australia, must be sent by airmail,

and in either case is conclusively considered to have been served at the expiration of 24 hours after the envelope containing the document is posted and, in proving service, it is sufficient to prove that the envelope containing the document was properly addressed and posted.

# 28.3 Documents by fax or electronic mail

Any document sent to a Member by fax or other electronic means is conclusively considered to have been served when the fax or other electronic transmission is sent. Any document made available to a Member by electronic means as contemplated by rule 28.1(e) is conclusively considered to have been served when notification that the document is available for access by that means is sent.

# 28.4 Persons entitled to notice of general meeting

- (a) Notice of every general meeting must be given in the manner authorised to:
  - (i) every Member;
  - (ii) the auditor for the time being (if any) of the Company; and
  - (iii) every Director.
- (b) No other person is entitled to receive notices of general meetings, unless otherwise required by the Corporations Act.

# 28.5 Signature to notice

The signature to any notice to be given by the Company may be written or printed or stamped.

# 29. Seals and their Use

The Company may have a common seal and a duplicate common seal. If the Company has any such seal:

- (a) it may only be used with the authority of the Board; and
- (b) every document to which it is affixed must be signed by a Director and be countersigned by another Director, a Secretary or another person appointed by the Board to countersign that document or a class of documents in which that document is included.

# 30. Officers' Indemnity and Insurance

# 30.1 Indemnity

The Company shall indemnify to the relevant extent each person who is an officer of the Company out of the assets of the Company against any liability (including any liability for legal costs and expenses) incurred by the officer in his or her capacity as an officer.

# 30.2 Legal costs

For the avoidance of doubt:

- (a) the Company shall indemnify to the relevant extent every person who is an officer of the Company against any liability for legal costs and expenses incurred by that person in his or her capacity as such; and
- (b) the limitation on the Company indemnifying a person against legal costs in the circumstances described in section 199A(3)(c) of the Corporations Act will not prevent the Company from indemnifying an officer in respect of (and the Company will indemnity each officer for) any costs incurred in responding to actions taken by ASIC, the ACNC or a liquidator as part of an investigation before commencing proceedings for the relevant court order.

# 30.3 Past officer and auditor

The Company may indemnify to the relevant extent any person who:

- (a) has been an officer of the Company; or
- (b) is or has been an auditor of the Company,

out of the assets of the Company against any liability incurred by that person in his or her capacity as an officer or auditor to the relevant extent.

# 30.4 Past officer and auditor: legal costs

The Company may indemnify to the relevant extent every person who:

- (a) has been an officer of the Company; or
- (b) is or has been an auditor of the Company,

against any liability for legal costs and expenses incurred by that person in his or her capacity as such.

# 30.5 Deed of indemnity and access to papers

- (a) Where the Board considers it appropriate, the Company may execute a documentary indemnity in any form in favour of any officer of the Company, provided that such terms are not inconsistent with this clause 30.
- (b) Where the Board considers it appropriate, the Company may: give a former Director access to certain papers, including documents provided or available to the Directors and other papers referred to in those documents; and bind itself in any contract with a Director or former Director to give the access.

# 30.6 Definitions

In this clause 30:

- (a) "to the relevant extent" means:
  - (i) to the extent that the Company is not precluded by law from doing so;

- (ii) where the liability is incurred in the conduct of the business of another corporation or in the discharge of the duties of the officer in relation to another corporation, to the extent and for the amount that the officer is not entitled to be indemnified and is not actually indemnified out of the assets of that corporation; and
- (iii) to the extent and for the amount that the officer is not otherwise actually indemnified, including an indemnity under any insurance policy or contract;
- (b) the outcome of proceedings is the outcome of the proceedings and any appeal in relation to the proceedings; and
- (c) "liability" means all costs, charges, losses, damages, expenses, penalties and liabilities of any kind including, in particular, legal costs incurred in defending any proceedings (whether criminal, civil, administrative or judicial) or appearing before any court, tribunal, government authority or other body.

# 30.7 Amendment

The benefit of any indemnity given under this clause 30 continues, despite any amendment to or deletion of this clause 30, in respect of liability arising from acts or omissions occurring before the amendment or deletion.

# 30.8 Insurance

Except to the extent precluded by the Corporations Act and section 199B in particular, the Company may pay or agree to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring a person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Company or a related body corporate against any liability:

- (a) incurred by the person as such an officer or auditor which does not arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company or a contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act; or
- (b) for costs and expenses incurred by the person in defending proceedings as such an officer or auditor, whether civil or criminal and whatever their outcome.

# 31. Notice to the ACNC and Australian Taxation Office

The Company must give written notice to:

- (a) the ACNC; and
- (b) if the Company is endorsed as a deductible gift recipient, the Australian Taxation Office,

of any amendment to this Constitution by no later than 28 days or such other period that is prescribed by law after the change.